

## Temporary accommodation, long-term crisis?

July 2025

This report has been prepared and published under section 41 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.

The Auditor General is independent of the Senedd and government. He examines and certifies the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including NHS bodies. He also has the power to report to the Senedd on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales and conducts local government value for money studies.

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales Audit Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the Auditor General.

#### © Auditor General for Wales 2025

Audit Wales is the umbrella brand of the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office, which are each separate legal entities with their own legal functions. Audit Wales is not itself a legal entity. While the Auditor General has the auditing and reporting functions described above, the Wales Audit Office's main functions are to provide staff and other resources for the exercise of the Auditor General's functions, and to monitor and advise the Auditor General.

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. If you re-use it, your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales copyright, and you must give the title of this publication. Where we have identified any third-party copyright material you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use. For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/ or language, please contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales. We welcome telephone calls in Welsh and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or English and we will respond in the language you have used. Corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay.

Mae'r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg

## Contents

#### **Summary report**

Audit snapshot	4
Key facts and figures	6
Our findings	
Councils spend a lot of money on temporary accommodation which is often not meeting people's needs	10
Councils have made limited progress with improving prevention of homelessness to achieve better outcomes and reduce costs	18
There are approaches that councils could potentially use to improve the current situation	26
Our recommendations	
Recommendations	33
Appendices	
1 Audit Scope, approach and methods	36

## Summary report

#### **Audit Snapshot**

#### Why we did the audit

- 1 This audit was carried out to identify opportunities to improve the value for money of councils' approaches in responding to the demand for temporary accommodation. We also aimed to explain the cost and increase in demand for temporary accommodation and councils' plans to deal with these challenges. In addition, we set out to provide assurance on how public money is being spent to tackle the need for temporary accommodation and provide evidence on where change is needed.
- 2 In particular, we looked at how councils measure, and try to improve, the value for money of what they spend on temporary accommodation. We also looked at whether councils are adapting to a preventative approach by better equipping their workforce, working with partner organisations and improving their understanding of demand for temporary accommodation.

#### **Temporary accommodation**

- 3 Demand for temporary accommodation has increased almost five-fold in the last decade. A significant reason for this was the Welsh Government's 'no-one left out' approach which was adopted during the pandemic to ensure everyone had access to a safe place to live. The Welsh Government provided additional funding to councils to implement this policy. Due to continued high levels of demand and rising costs, councils are spending considerable amounts of money providing accommodation for people who are often in crisis.
- 4 Reducing demand for temporary accommodation is important for councils' future financial sustainability. It is also important to ensure they are able to provide the right support for often vulnerable people to help them towards better outcomes.
- 5 Where councils need to provide temporary accommodation, it is important that councils understand whether or not they are securing value for money. This means having an understanding of the both the cost and quality of provision. It also includes understanding whether they are providing people experiencing homelessness with a place to live which meets their needs, even if it is only a temporary home.

6 Even with a focus on prevention, councils are likely to always need to offer a small amount of temporary accommodation for people who are experiencing homelessness. However, if councils and their partners do not reduce demand for temporary accommodation, there remains a risk that short-term solutions become a long-term crisis both for public finances and for people experiencing homelessness.

#### What we found

- 7 We found that councils:
  - are spending considerable amounts of money on temporary accommodation which in many cases does not meet people's needs;
  - do not understand whether they are getting value for money from their temporary accommodation;
  - have made limited progress with improving prevention of homelessness to achieve better outcomes and reduce costs;
  - find it difficult to predict demand for temporary accommodation in the medium to long term;
  - do not have clear plans in place to ensure their workforce is equipped to prevent demand for temporary accommodation; and
  - find it difficult to work well with partner organisations to prevent homelessness.

#### Focus of our recommendations

- 8 To support councils in overcoming these challenges, we have made recommendations aimed both at improving the value for money of temporary accommodation and reducing demand by preventing homelessness. These recommendations include:
  - defining and evaluating value for money;
  - strengthening the planning of homelessness prevention through better use of data; and
  - modelling the impact of policy and legislation changes on councils' workforce needs.

#### Key facts and figures

- 9 The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 sets out the legislative framework governing housing and homelessness services. The Act outlines the requirements for councils to secure suitable accommodation for a person who is homeless or threatened to be homeless within 56 days.
- 10 Section 68 of the Act requires councils to provide interim accommodation ('temporary accommodation') if they believe a person is homeless, eligible for assistance and has a priority need for accommodation.
- 11 Temporary accommodation is often in the form of bed and breakfast (B&Bs), hotels, hostels or refuges, while a council undertakes investigations into eligibility (priority need, intentionality and local connection tests) or seeks to secure suitable accommodation.
- 12 The Welsh Government's 'Ending Homelessness in Wales: A high level action plan 2021-2026'<sup>1</sup> sets out key components to ensure homelessness is rare, brief and unrepeated.
- 13 The Welsh Government introduced the Homelessness and Social Housing Allocation (Wales) Bill to the Senedd on 19 May 2025<sup>2</sup>. The Bill aims to 'transform the homelessness system in Wales' and includes a focus on prevention and collaboration between public services, including a widening of responsibility for the identification and prevention of homelessness.
- 14 The Welsh Government has allocated significant investment to this area, including allocating £219.5 million to Homelessness Support and Prevention for 2025-26<sup>3</sup>.
- 15 Demand for temporary accommodation is significantly outpacing available accommodation. This is shown in **Exhibit 1**, which compares the number of people in temporary accommodation in a given month with the number of people moved into suitable long-term accommodation in that month, between August 2020 and March 2025.

3 Welsh Government, Final Budget 2025 to 2026

<sup>1</sup> Welsh Government, Ending Homelessness in Wales: a high-level action plan 2021-26

<sup>2</sup> Welsh Government, Landmark Bill sets bold vision for ending homelessness in Wales

### Exhibit 1: demand for temporary accommodation in Wales versus availability of suitable long-term accommodation from August 2020 to March 2025

The graph below shows the total number of homeless people in temporary accommodation over time compared with the number of people moved into suitable long-term accommodation between August 2020 and March 2025.



Source: The Welsh Government

Accessed 11 June 2025. Data in this series only available until March, hence the interval between this and the previous data point is seven months. The Welsh Government has told us that monthly data collection was introduced during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic initially as Management Information. From January 2024, these data have undergone the appropriate quality assurance protocols for Official Statistics. Following the introduction of this collection, the Welsh Government worked with local authorities to develop the publication by strengthening the data collection guidance and to improve data quality. Due to this development, there was an improvement in data quality from April 2023. Month-to-month comparisons may not be reliable as there may be seasonal impacts on homelessness or other reasons for fluctuations.

- In March 2025, 10,800 people were in temporary accommodation which represents a 200% increase since collection of this dataset started in August 2020. Of the people in temporary accommodation in March 2025, 24% were children under sixteen years of age<sup>4</sup>.
- 17 Repeat placements in temporary accommodation are common. In March 2025, almost 17% of placements into temporary accommodation were of individuals who had previously been placed into temporary accommodation within the last 12 months<sup>5</sup>.
- 18 There are many complex reasons for the increased demand for temporary accommodation. Some of these are illustrated in **Exhibit 2**.

#### Exhibit 2: Some of the drivers of demand for temporary accommodation

This exhibit illustrates some of the reasons why demand for temporary accommodation has increased in recent years.

#### Increased demand for temporary accommodation



Source: Audit Wales analysis

- 4 The information on data quality outlined in the source for **Exhibit 1** also applies to the data in this paragraph.
- 5 The information on data quality outlined in the source for **Exhibit 1** also applies to the data in this paragraph.

19 This rapid increase in demand for temporary accommodation has led to a significant increase in the amount councils spend on providing temporary accommodation. In 2019, councils spent around £28 million in total, whereas in 2023-24, this had increased to nearly £172 million<sup>6</sup>.

<sup>6</sup> Source: Audit Wales survey data

We asked councils to provide figures for gross revenue expenditure on temporary accommodation for the financial years 2019-20 to 2023-24. We asked councils to exclude spending on preventative activity. There may be variations in how councils account for temporary accommodation expenditure and so these figures may include some funding from the Welsh Government.

## **Our findings**

#### Councils spend a lot of money on temporary accommodation which is often not meeting people's needs

- 20 Stays in temporary accommodation are intended to be short, but increases in demand and lack of accommodation have led to people living in temporary accommodation for longer periods.
- 21 The Welsh Government has set out its aim for homelessness to be brief, rare and unrepeated<sup>7</sup>. To achieve this, the Welsh Government aims to focus on provision of long-term housing solutions to avoid prolonged stays in temporary accommodation.
- 22 There is likely to be a continued use of relatively high levels of temporary accommodation in the short to medium term, due to the difference between current levels of demand and suitable permanent accommodation. This includes people staying in temporary accommodation for longer periods whilst suitable accommodation becomes available. It is therefore important to ensure that temporary accommodation can support people's needs and well-being.

#### Temporary accommodation often does not meet people's needs and can cause harm

- 23 Living in temporary accommodation can have a significant impact on people's health and well-being. Current provision often does not meet the needs of people including, in particular, groups who share protected characteristics as well as children and young people<sup>8</sup>.
- 24 The Bevan Foundation and Shelter Cymru's report 'Nowhere to call home: Living in temporary accommodation' highlights the experiences of people living in temporary accommodation. The report outlines that living in temporary accommodation can worsen people's mental health due to a range of reasons. These include poor quality accommodation, personal safety concerns, restrictions, abrupt moves and being placed far away from local networks and services such as schools.

<sup>7</sup> Welsh Government, Ending Homelessness: A high level action plan 2021-2026

<sup>8</sup> Tai Pawb, Understanding the experiences of homelessness

- page 11
- 25 A 2023 study by The Reach Alliance<sup>9</sup> found that living in temporary accommodation hinders children's ability to play, through, for example, a lack of physical space and strict visitor policies that mean children cannot invite their friends over to play.
- 26 Our fieldwork supports the view that in many cases temporary accommodation provision does not meet the needs of residents, can cause harm and is often not fit for purpose.
- 27 We heard of instances where families with young children and people in recovery from drug addiction were living in unsupported temporary accommodation alongside people with active drug addictions. We also heard examples of people developing substance addictions as a result of their temporary accommodation placement.
- 28 Well-being and personal safety concerns have been so significant for some people that they have chosen to become homeless rather than stay in temporary accommodation.
- 29 Councils told us that it is difficult to ensure temporary accommodation can meet a range of people's needs due to a lack of suitable accommodation, particularly for those with more complex needs.
- 30 However, we found some examples of councils taking a more proactive approach to understand the needs of those living in temporary accommodation and to use this to plan provision. We have included several practice examples from page 25 onwards.
- 31 Having a better understanding of the needs of residents and putting in place services to help meet those needs is more likely to improve outcomes for residents and improve value for money.

## Councils do not assess the impact that restrictions placed on residents may have on their quality of life

- 32 Due to the lack of suitable accommodation, 19 councils told us that they often put restrictions in place to protect properties and the people living there.
- 33 Examples of restrictions include
  - time curfews, such as residents being unable to enter or leave premises after 10pm each night;
  - limits to the visitors that residents are allowed;
  - bans on use of alcohol;
  - no pets allowed; and
  - no permission for residents to stay away, even to spend a night with family.
- 34 Most councils told us that they assessed the impact these restrictions may have on users. However, we did not find evidence of councils documenting assessments of the impact these restrictions may have.
- 35 Third sector organisations we spoke to told us that the restrictions placed on people have a negative impact on people's lives. Examples included difficulties gaining employment due to time restrictions, the feeling of being imprisoned and feeling watched by CCTV. They also highlighted the significant impacts on children's well-being and development.
- 36 Fully assessing the impact restrictions may have on well-being provides councils with an opportunity to prevent harm by identifying alternative options or arrangements that can better support well-being. This in turn has the potential to help councils secure better value for money by achieving better long-term outcomes for residents.

#### Councils are spending significant resources on delivering temporary accommodation which is a risk to their financial sustainability

37 The total expenditure<sup>10</sup> on temporary accommodation increased by 516% between 2019-20 and 2023-24. This is a rise from £28 million in 2019-20 to £172 million by 2023-24, as can be seen in **Exhibit 3**.

<sup>10</sup> Source: Audit Wales survey data.

We asked councils to provide figures for gross revenue expenditure on temporary accommodation for the financial years 2019-20 to 2023-24. These figures may include some funding from the Welsh Government.

#### page 13

### Exhibit 3: total expenditure (revenue and capital) for all councils between 2019-20 and 2023-24

This exhibit shows the combined increase in expenditure in cash terms on temporary accommodation for all 22 principal councils in Wales between 2019-20 and 2023-24.



Source: Audit Wales survey of councils

- 38 Councils spent £356 million of revenue and £92 million of capital funding on temporary accommodation from 2019-20 to 2023-24.
- 39 There are a number of reasons why the amount that councils spend on temporary accommodation has increased in recent years. These include increased demand, rising costs, the length of time that residents are staying in accommodation and complexity of their needs.
- 40 Our surveys indicate that councils are concerned current expenditure on temporary accommodation is not sustainable over the medium to longer term, and that it poses a significant risk to their council's overall financial sustainability.
- 41 This suggests that unless a different approach is taken, including more focus on reducing demand, the costs of providing temporary accommodation may become unsustainable.

#### What we mean by value for money

- 42 Value for money is about whether money is being used to deliver intended outcomes at the best price. This is also sometimes referred to as 'cost-effectiveness'. Value for money is commonly associated with the 'three E's' of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. We have summarised these as
  - Economy Getting the right deal securing the necessary inputs, to help achieve intended outcomes, at the lowest possible cost
  - Efficiency Doing the right thing making the most of the inputs to generate outputs designed to achieve intended outcomes
  - Effectiveness Getting the right results achieving the intended outcomes for the short and longer term
- 43 Value for money is therefore not just about costs, but about the quality and effectiveness of the service delivered for the money spent. People living in temporary accommodation are often in a vulnerable situation and need support to help them move into stable and appropriate accommodation.
- 44 Councils have legal duties relating to value for money. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 places a duty on councils to review the extent to which they are using resources economically, efficiently and effectively<sup>11</sup>.
- 45 Councils are also required to act in accordance with the sustainable development principle. As part of this they are required to balance both short and long-term needs when making decisions on the use of their resources. It is therefore important that value for money is also considered over the longer term. For example, the most cost-effective solutions may often be ones that prevent problems from occurring at all, or from getting worse.

### Most councils do not fully assess the value for money of their temporary accommodation provision

- 46 Councils primarily focus on comparison of short-term costs to assess value for money. Our evidence suggests that councils think they have strong arrangements in place to monitor value for money. However, we found that councils generally focus on the cost of provision, but not the outcomes or value it provides.
- 47 In addition, many councils have not benchmarked the costs of their temporary accommodation provision. Less than a third of councils told us they had undertaken benchmarking of their costs. Without benchmarking the costs of temporary accommodation, it is difficult for councils to know if they are providing value for money and to identify areas where they can improve value for money.

48 Overall, this suggests that there are weaknesses in councils' arrangements to assess and monitor value for money. It also suggests there is a difference between how well councils think they are assessing value for money, and how well this happens in practice. This makes it difficult for councils to know whether the money they are spending is being used cost-effectively and having the intended impact.

### Most councils do not fully assess a range of temporary accommodation options

- 49 Assessment of a range of options for temporary accommodation is an important step in securing value for money. This helps to provide assurance that councils have chosen the option that will provide value for money over the short and long term.
- 50 We found that most councils do not fully assess a range of options when commissioning temporary accommodation. Most councils either do not assess any alternative options at all or have only compared temporary accommodation costs of one or two options.
- 51 For example, many councils are trying to increase private rented sector accommodation for use as both temporary and permanent accommodation. We found that councils are often only comparing the costs of private rented sector options against short-term hotel and bed and breakfast temporary accommodation costs, rather than against a range of other potential options. This makes it difficult for councils to know that they have selected the option(s) most likely to secure value for money.
- 52 Where some councils had considered options in more detail, they were able to identify options that reduced costs and improved quality of provision. For example, Carmarthenshire County Council identified that by utilising buildings no longer needed by the Council or being sold by private landlords, it could improve temporary accommodation quality and deliver significant savings to the council.
- 53 Councils told us that it is difficult to assess all options because they are grappling with increased complexity and levels of demand within a challenging financial context. Councils regularly have to make immediate decisions to provide accommodation the same day and so it is therefore difficult for them to assess a range of options.
- 54 There are also barriers outside of councils' control that can make it difficult to identify options. We heard that challenges in meeting the Welsh Housing Quality Standard can make it difficult to create new temporary accommodation through converting existing properties. For example, we heard of an instance of a council not being able to utilise ex-council housing for temporary accommodation due to one bedroom being centimetres too small.

- 55 We also heard that the local housing allowance rates are a barrier for councils because the rates are significantly lower than market housing rents in most areas. All councils had identified the gap between local housing allowance and market rates as an issue, but most had not undertaken modelling to understand the value for money implications different options may have. The few councils that have used these factors to assess their options have found ways to improve their provision despite these constraints.
- 56 Without assessing a range of options, councils cannot be assured that they have chosen the best option to secure value for money.

#### Councils do not have arrangements to ensure that the temporary accommodation they commission from external providers delivers value for money

- 57 Most councils that buy temporary accommodation on a room or unit basis, (such as from hotels), do not have processes in place to ensure they secure value for money. This is partly because councils often buy rooms ad hoc through 'spot purchasing'.
- 58 Some councils have been able to significantly reduce the costs of 'spot purchasing' by comparing nightly rates between providers or setting up corporate accounts to access discounts. But council officers described that councils are often at the 'mercy' of providers with regard to costs and quality due to an overall lack of accommodation. This is also supported by our surveys, which highlighted concerns that councils' temporary accommodation does not provide value for money.
- 59 Some councils hire staff with commercial skills to put in place block booking agreements with providers. The purpose of these agreements is to negotiate rates and reduce the risk of fluctuating costs by putting in place longer-term contracts. However, we heard that there are risks with this approach, as councils are sometimes paying for rooms they do not need.
- 60 Although the Welsh Government has set out the need to move away from the use of emergency, temporary and hostel services<sup>12</sup>, some councils are likely to continue to source temporary accommodation from providers to manage demand in the short to medium term. It is therefore important that councils have arrangements in place to ensure that value for money can be secured when commissioning temporary accommodation providers.

### Most councils that own temporary accommodation do not have clear and planned maintenance arrangements

- 61 Of those councils that own temporary accommodation, we found that most do not have clear maintenance arrangements in place to reduce repair costs and improve quality.
- 62 Poor quality accommodation does not deliver value for money because it negatively impacts on people's health and well-being and leads to additional costs. For example, some councils have incurred expensive repair costs and alternative accommodation costs where repairs have led to longer turnaround times between tenancies.
- 63 A few councils have maintenance plans for temporary accommodation and clearly defined responsibilities for responsibilities within the council. For example, Cardiff Council has a stock transformation plan, through which it assesses the quality of all of its accommodation provision and identifies the work required to bring it up to standard.
- 64 Having arrangements in place for maintaining temporary accommodation can help to prevent homelessness and therefore the resulting costs and impact on residents' quality of life.

# Councils have made limited progress with improving prevention of homelessness to achieve better outcomes and reduce costs

- 65 The Welsh Government mandated that councils should improve early intervention and prevention, in 'Ending Homelessness in Wales: A high level action plan' in 2021<sup>13</sup>. This included a requirement for councils to develop rapid rehousing transition plans as part of their Housing Support Programme Strategies by the end of 2022.
- 66 We found that all councils are aware of the need to move from a reactive to preventative approach, however, the extent to which they have made progress with this is highly variable and limited overall.

### Councils are not planning effectively to prevent demand for homelessness services

67 There are three different tiers of homelessness prevention: primary, secondary and tertiary. As shown in **Exhibit 4**, primary prevention is the earliest form of prevention, followed by secondary, and then tertiary. 'Ending Homelessness in Wales' states that 'the earliest preventions are most effective and most cost effective and should always be the interventions of first choice'.

#### page 19

#### Exhibit 4: the tiers of homelessness prevention

The exhibit below summarises the three tiers of homelessness prevention and provides a summary description of each.

#### Most effective



#### Least effective

Source: Audit Wales graphic using text from 'Ending Homelessness in Wales'

- 68 We found that, while all councils have Rapid Rehousing Transition Plans in place, the quality of these plans is variable. Only around half of councils have plans which include primary, secondary and tertiary approaches to prevent demand for temporary accommodation. Other councils mainly include secondary and tertiary approaches in their plans.
- 69 Most councils make good use of data to help them understand barriers to prevention. However, only a few councils and their partners regularly assess how well their prevention approaches are working. Some councils carry out no evaluation at all, and it is not yet clear in most councils if their approaches to prevention have been effective. By not making use of the full range of preventative approaches, councils risk missing opportunities to prevent the need for temporary accommodation at the earliest opportunity and to address costs.

For example, Denbighshire County Council has used data to model the impact its plans could have. The Council's Rapid Rehousing Transition Plan sets out that investing £2.54 million in key priorities, such as action to reduce demand, could save up to £22 million in private bed and breakfast costs over ten years. This would be a saving of approximately £20 million and equate to a nearly 800% return on investment over that time. Whilst this is an estimate, it does suggest that there are significant cost savings that could be achieved by many, if not all, councils by more effectively planning to prevent demand for temporary accommodation.

#### Councils find it difficult to predict demand in the long term and many are not confident they will be able to meet that demand

- 71 To effectively reduce and prevent demand for temporary accommodation, councils will need to improve their understanding of demand for homelessness services, including temporary accommodation. They will also need to improve the way in which they identify people at risk of homelessness.
- 72 Councils have a good awareness of the drivers of demand for temporary accommodation in the short term, supported by good use of data. But councils find it harder to predict demand in the medium to long term. This was supported by our survey results which showed that councils are generally confident in their ability to predict demand for accommodation over the short term, but less so for the medium term, and even less for the longer term.
- 73 Over half of councils told us they did not have a fully costed, approved plan in place to resource the projected demand for temporary accommodation over the next three to five years. Many councils told us that they find it difficult to cost their plans for temporary accommodation in the short, medium and long term. This was due to not being able to accurately predict demand or forecast what the costs will be for private providers in the future.
- 74 Councils are heavily reliant on the Welsh Government's grant funding for delivering action to address temporary accommodation. This poses the risk that councils may struggle to fund temporary accommodation costs if the grant funding is withdrawn.
- 75 Some councils have undertaken more detailed planning. For example, of the eight councils that clearly had modelled future demand, most had modelled over a medium-term period (five years). Denbighshire County Council used a ten-year period, and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council has projected demand up to 2037.

76 We recognise that predicting demand is challenging, as demonstrated by recent unforeseeable events such as the pandemic and the cost-ofliving crisis. However, using available evidence and data to try and predict demand can help councils to plan for long-term sustainability. It can also help councils to improve their financial planning for homelessness services and move to a more preventative approach.

#### Many councils do not have clear plans in place to ensure their workforce is equipped to prevent demand for temporary accommodation

- 575 Staff in homelessness teams often do difficult and demanding jobs. 'Ending Homelessness in Wales: A high level action plan 2021-2026' includes an action to 'develop a resilient and valued workforce recognised for their expertise'. The aim of this action is to promote the sector as a career and move towards a 'psychologically informed approach' in housing services. To move from a reactive to a preventative model, homelessness teams in councils will need to work in a different way and may require new skills.
- 78 The Welsh Government's 2024 survey of the housing and homeless workforce found that frontline housing workers in councils more commonly provided neutral or negative responses to the statement 'I am valued for my skills and experience' than frontline workers in other organisations<sup>14</sup>. Many respondents to the survey felt workloads and expectations on staff were too high and some raised concerns over how much of the workforce had appropriate skills to implement person centred trauma informed support<sup>15</sup>.
- 79 In response to our survey, 95.5% of councils agreed or strongly agreed that staff in their homelessness teams are under significant pressure and 50% had seen an increase in sickness absences in the homelessness service in the last two years due to workload pressures. Staff abuse, a lack of time to upskill and job satisfaction were given as key staffing challenges. Additionally, 45% of councils told us that they struggle to recruit effectively into their homelessness services and many raised difficulties with recruiting specialist staff.
- 80 Most councils have taken some action to equip their workforce with the requisite skills and increase capacity, for example, by creating dedicated staff posts to work on prevention and bringing dedicated social workers into housing teams. However, half of councils told us they had not yet modelled the impact of recent and likely future policy changes on the skills and capacity needed in their workforce, nor have they identified their future workforce needs.

15 Welsh Government, Ending Homelessness Outcome Framework: Workforce Survey

<sup>14</sup> Welsh Government, Ending Homelessness Outcome Framework: Workforce Survey

81 There has been a rapid increase in demand which has caused councils to focus on responding to this demand in the short term in order to meet their statutory duties. However, without a clear understanding of the future skills and capacity needed, councils risk failing to equip their workforce to work preventatively and being able to reduce demand for temporary accommodation.

#### Partnership working to prevent homelessness is not always effective or providing value for money and there is limited evaluation of it

- 82 There are many routes by which people access homelessness services. For example:
  - on leaving prison;
  - after hospital discharge;
  - due to eviction by their landlord.
- 83 **Exhibit 5** illustrates more of these routes.

#### page 23

#### Exhibit 5: some of the routes by which people access homelessness services

The diagram below shows some of the routes by which people access homelessness services.



Source: Audit Wales analysis

84 Therefore, to improve prevention of homelessness, councils need to work with partners such as the prison service, the NHS and private landlords. They also need to work with third sector organisations which provide support, for example, substance misuse charities.

- 85 Generally, councils do not have a comprehensive understanding of which partners they could work with to help reduce homelessness. Responses to our surveys indicate that councils understand which partners they should collaborate with. But our interviews with council officers and document reviews show a more variable picture. Most councils have mapped some aspects of their homelessness service such as the mental health pathway. But they are not fully clear on who does what in preventing demand for temporary accommodation.
- 86 Partnership working is not always effective in reducing the demand for temporary accommodation. Most councils feel they have effective partnership working arrangements in place with key partners to address demand for temporary accommodation. However, our evidence suggests the effectiveness of partnership working is mixed. Many councils have effective partnership working arrangements for some pathways and/ or partners, but rarely all. Some council officers also told us that due to pressure on other public services, they often end up 'plugging the gaps'.
- 87 If councils and their partners do not clearly understand their respective roles and responsibilities, there is a risk that services will be duplicated which could potentially waste resources. Or there may be gaps in services, which means councils and their partners could miss opportunities to identify and support people at risk of homelessness.
- 88 There is also limited evaluation of partnership working to prevent demand for homelessness. Only a few councils carry out any significant evaluation of its effectiveness. If councils do not evaluate the effectiveness of partnership working, it is difficult for them to know if they are providing value for money or to identify opportunities to improve homelessness prevention.

#### Ineffective prevention is reducing value for money in councils and the wider public sector

- 89 Missing opportunities to prevent homelessness and improve well-being for those experiencing homelessness is impacting on people's lives and leading to increased costs for councils. Councils are unlikely to achieve value for money from their temporary accommodation provision until they improve homelessness prevention. This is because preventing homelessness from occurring, or re-occurring is likely to both reduce the cost of providing temporary accommodation and improve outcomes.
- 90 Councils told us that difficulties in engaging with public sector partners is a significant barrier to improving homelessness prevention. This not only means that councils are not able to provide value for money for their homelessness prevention expenditure but also has financial implications for the wider public sector.

- 91 The Welsh Government commissioned an evaluation of homelessness interventions which included a value for money assessment<sup>16</sup>. This assessment found that while cost-benefits for the public sector can vary, a rehousing approach combining stable and suitable housing with the right support had the potential for significant cost avoidance for health, criminal justice, social care and homelessness services.
- 92 The financial benefits of successfully preventing demand for homelessness services and achieving better outcomes for people's lives may not always be seen within one organisation. Not being able to immediately or directly see the impact of money spent can make it difficult for councils and public bodies to invest in prevention or providing greater levels of support. However, there is potential for public bodies to secure better value for money by working together to ensure people have stable and suitable housing.
- 93 The Welsh Government outlined in 'Ending Homelessness' that acute spending to manage the impact of a strongly negative situation does little to prevent problems recurring in future. For example, the potential recurring cost of temporary housing for people who repeatedly experience homelessness or the long-term cost of supporting children who have suffered Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) because of the loss of their home.
- 94 The human cost of homelessness is not quantifiable in the same way as the financial cost, but it clearly has a significant impact. Homelessness can lead to family separation and delays in children's development. It can also have a negative effect on health and wellbeing. A failure to improve prevention of homelessness is likely to cause considerable problems for councils and their communities, both in the short and longer term.

## There are approaches that councils could potentially use to improve the current situation

- 95 Current financial challenges and increased demand for temporary accommodation in recent years means that many councils are operating in 'firefighting' mode. This means they are focused on managing demand, delivering statutory duties and providing accommodation in the short-term rather than working to prevent demand over the medium and longer-term. The risks of this approach were highlighted in the Auditor General's report From Firefighting to Future-proofing – the challenge for Welsh public services<sup>17</sup>. We have summarised this in **Exhibit 6**.
- 96 Unless councils are able to focus more on prevention, alongside a stronger focus on the value for money of current provision, they will continue to provide an expensive service that risks not meeting people's needs.

intended outcomes are achieved in the

right way.

#### Exhibit 6 – from firefighting to future proofing

The exhibit below sets out a description and characteristics for the different stages of 'firefighting', 'transition phase' and 'implementing the sustainable development principle' in relation to public services.



Source: Audit Wales diagram informed by an infographic from the National Audit Office's guide Improving Operational Delivery in Government

97 We have identified practice examples that councils might find helpful to improve their approach to temporary accommodation provision. These have been grouped into four themes below.

#### Planning and using data

- 98 Neath Port Talbot Council has undertaken medium-term financial planning in relation to housing and homelessness. This identifies:
  - recurring costs;
  - forecasted increases in demand including allowance for children transitioning to adulthood placements;
  - the investment needed for its transformation programmes;
  - cost of homelessness pressures;
  - the projected budget shortfall to meet the demand for temporary accommodation; and
  - the likely use of reserves is also stated across the full period.
- 99 Analysis of data has also enabled Neath Port Talbot Council to identify repeat episodes of homelessness and hospital admissions for people owed a statutory aftercare duty due to complex mental health needs<sup>18</sup>. The Council has developed a proposal to address this to deliver better support and outcomes for service users.
- 100 The Chartered Institute of Housing Scotland worked with partners to develop a framework for enabling a more consistent approach to monitoring rapid rehousing transition plans<sup>19</sup>. The framework is set out against the aims of homelessness being prevented, brief and nonrecurring, and sets out indicators, measures and actions that councils can use to monitor progress in meeting these aims.
- 101 The Built for Zero<sup>20</sup> programme run by Crisis focuses on improving the use of data to understand who is experiencing homelessness, what they need to move into a home and how homelessness changes over time.

<sup>18</sup> Mental Health Act 1983

<sup>19</sup> Rapid Rehousing Transition Plans Report

<sup>20</sup> Crisis UK, Built for Zero: Together we will end homelessness

## Understanding and responding to the needs of those living in temporary accommodation

- 102 Carmarthenshire County Council has developed plans for a short-stay accommodation and support centre specifically for young people aged 18 to 25 with complex needs. The centre provides a protected environment where needs can be supported by a multi-agency team for up to six months, while permanent accommodation is found.
- 103 Conwy County Borough Council has developed two shared housing schemes which provide support and accommodation for people who are homeless upon release from prison.
- 104 Conwy County Borough Council has also placed an officer within some of its temporary accommodation to provide support for residents. This includes help with seeking employment and advice on available benefits. We heard that there has been high demand for this service, and it has led to successfully removing barriers that prevented some people accessing employment and, consequently, permanent accommodation.

#### **Partnership**

- 105 Homeless Link has created a partnership self-assessment tool<sup>21</sup>. This tool can help to assess current partnership arrangements and identify actions to strengthen arrangements where needed.
- 106 Crisis has developed a Homelessness Alliance<sup>22</sup> in partnership with the UK Government. Local businesses can join the alliance by signing and implementing pledges that commit them to preventing their employees becoming homeless. This is designed to encourage local businesses to help prevent homelessness.

#### **Assessing options**

107 Greater Manchester Combined Authority and the UK Government developed a cost-benefit analysis tool<sup>23</sup> to assess the value for money to the public sector of different intervention options that may not be easy to compare. The tool can help partners work together to better understand the relationship between the money spent by the public sector as a whole and the benefits delivered. The tool is supported by guidance and a unit costs database that provides financial data on a range of public sector activities, including housing, health and social services. The tool can be used to support a better understanding of value for money of different options to meet and prevent demand for temporary accommodation.

<sup>21</sup> Homeless Link, Partnership self assessment framework

<sup>22</sup> Crisis UK, Sign up to our Homelessness Alliance

<sup>23</sup> Greater Manchester Combined Authority, Research: Cost Benefit Analysis

- 108 Local Partnerships has developed a homelessness prevention model<sup>24</sup>. The model can be used to help quantify the costs and benefits of homelessness prevention programmes.
- 109 Denbighshire County Council's Rapid Rehousing Transition Plan contains a detailed assessment of options over a ten-year period, including the financial impact per annum. The plan also sets out how the Council's chosen approach to temporary accommodation meets its aim to have accommodation that can be used flexibly as demand changes over time.
- 110 Neath Port Talbot Council found that it was operating most of its temporary accommodation at a loss. The Council modelled a range of options and identified that it would be more cost-effective to purchase the temporary accommodation it was leasing. This is because the Council identified that it could fully recover its costs within a few years and then be able to invest income generated from rents at local housing allowance rates back into the service.
- 111 Isle of Anglesey County Council has drawn on The Temporary Housing Dilemma – Strategies for Local Authorities<sup>25</sup> report published by Copping Joyce. The report contains a matrix that can help councils to assess the implications of different approaches to providing temporary accommodation.
- 112 The Hertfordshire Growth Board<sup>26</sup> has sponsored a review of temporary accommodation options to assist councils to better meet the housing needs of people living in temporary accommodation whilst securing value for money. Three proposals have been identified to have the highest potential to impact the supply and management of homelessness accommodation:
  - development of a Hertfordshire Temporary Accommodation Predictive Model to better understand and manage future demand;
  - development of a multi-district or Hertfordshire wide accommodation pathway for homeless people with complex needs (originally a housing first service);
  - development or commissioning of hospital stepdown accommodation.

<sup>24</sup> Local Partnerships, Homelessness prevention report and tool

<sup>25</sup> Copping Joyce Surveyors, <u>The Temporary Housing Dilemma - Strategies for Local</u> <u>Authorities</u>

<sup>26</sup> Local Government Association, <u>Joint Review of Temporary Accommodation Provision: how</u> can we improve the availability of appropriate temporary accommodation across the county

- 113 Success will be measured through:
  - measurable improvements in the life chances for households in temporary accommodation;
  - increased return on financial investment in provision of temporary accommodation; and
  - increased collaboration and shared learning from experience by bringing together the required expertise into one co-ordinated programme.
- 114 This approach provides an example for how partners can work collaboratively to identify temporary accommodation options.

#### Increasing accommodation options and improving quality

- 115 We found examples of innovative solutions being used to try to improve the value for money of temporary accommodation and increase accommodation options:
  - Cardiff Council has used modern construction methods to create accommodation on brownfield land. The Yr Hafan<sup>27</sup> site has delivered high quality, energy efficient temporary accommodation with support permanently on site and a community building to provide training, education and creche facilities for residents.
  - Cardiff Council has a stock transformation plan through which it assesses the quality of all of its accommodation provision and identifies the work required to bring it up to standard.
  - Linc Cymu Housing Association has created high quality, energy efficient homes on an underutilised car park for people previously living in temporary accommodation in Newport<sup>28</sup>.
  - Carmarthenshire County Council identified that it could deliver improved quality temporary accommodation to support residents' wellbeing and deliver significant savings to the council by utilising buildings that were no longer needed by the Council or being sold by private landlords.
  - When a local landlord decided to sell a large number of homes, Neath Port Talbot Council identified an opportunity to increase social housing stock and prevent homelessness by working with local RSLs to purchase some of the properties. The Council is not stock holding, but collaborative working with the Welsh Government enabled the Council to increase its number of owned properties.

28 Zed Pods, Hill Street House

- 116 There may be opportunities for some councils to work more with communities and the third sector to expand their provision and provide support to people living in temporary accommodation. Mapping out potential partners could help councils to identify new opportunities or opportunities to work more effectively with the third sector. Examples of initiatives run by the third sector include:
  - Many organisations deliver Housing First schemes in Wales, including The Wallich and The Salvation Army. Housing First teams work closely with councils to rapidly find people a permanent home alongside intensive support to sustain their home.
  - Depaul runs Nightstop which enables volunteer hosts to provide emergency overnight accommodation to young people.
  - Housing Justice Cymru runs programmes such as:
    - Faith in Affordable Housing which brings redundant church land and buildings back into use as social housing;
    - Hosting Project which supports volunteer households to host refugees and asylum seekers; and
    - Citadel is a volunteer-led homelessness prevention project which provides support to people experiencing homelessness to find and/or sustain a tenancy and establish a home.

## Our recommendations

#### **Exhibit 7: recommendations**

The table below sets out the recommendations that we have identified following this study.

#### **Recommendations**

#### Value for money

- R1 We found that councils are not able to demonstrate that they are securing value for money in their temporary accommodation provision. To address this councils should:
  - ensure the full range of approaches and options for temporary accommodation provision are considered; and
  - set out how they will assess and monitor the overall value for money of temporary accommodation provision, including:
    - the intended outcomes; and
    - the information they will use to assess the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of their temporary accommodation provision.

#### **Recommendations**

#### **Planning for prevention**

- R2 We found that while all councils have Rapid Rehousing Transition Plans in place, these are of variable quality. To effectively plan to prevent homelessness councils should:
  - ensure they use relevant data to make the best possible estimate of future demand for homelessness services;
  - include a range of primary, secondary and tertiary approaches in their plans, with the emphasis on primary prevention where possible;
  - model the impact of policy changes on the skills and capacity needed in their workforce;
  - identify the workforce they will need to address demand for temporary accommodation in the future; and
  - set out how they will assess and monitor the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of their approach to preventing and reducing demand for temporary accommodation.

#### **Partnership working**

- R3 We found that partnership working in preventing homelessness is often not effective. To improve this councils should:
  - work with their partners to:
    - identify existing respective roles and responsibilities;
    - agree how to address gaps in and/or duplication of services;
  - regularly evaluate the effectiveness of their partnership working for homelessness prevention.



1 Audit scope, approach and methods

# 1 Audit scope, approach and methods

#### Scope

We sought to answer the question 'Are there opportunities to improve the value for money of temporary accommodation services?'

To answer this, we looked at what councils are doing to ensure they secure value for money in their current approach to providing temporary accommodation. We also looked at whether councils are effectively preventing demand for temporary accommodation services.

We developed our audit criteria based on learning from our previous audits of Homelessness demand<sup>29</sup>, Rough sleeping<sup>30</sup> and Poverty<sup>31</sup>. We also used research from relevant organisations and stakeholders on the key issues around temporary accommodation to inform these criteria.

#### Approach

Our approach in this audit has been to understand the cost of, and increase in demand for, temporary accommodation and councils' plans to deal with these challenges. We aimed to identify how public money is being spent to tackle the need for temporary accommodation and provide evidence on where change is needed. We also aimed to support improvement by highlighting opportunities to improve value for money and citing examples of good practice.

We aimed in particular to consider the needs of, and outcomes for, people experiencing homelessness as part of this work.

<sup>29</sup> Audit Wales, How Local Government manages demand – Homelessness

<sup>30</sup> Audit Wales, Rough Sleeping in Wales – Everyone's problem; no-one's responsibility. Audit Wales, July 2020

<sup>31</sup> Audit Wales, 'Time for change' - Poverty in Wales. Audit Wales, November 2022

#### **Methods**

Our fieldwork was completed between September 2024 and April 2025, utilising the following methods:

- document review: we reviewed key documents from all 22 councils. These
  included rapid rehousing transition plans, progress monitoring reports for
  rapid rehousing transition plans, and Medium Term Financial Plans. We
  also reviewed workforce plans, business cases and tender documents to
  support the commissioning of temporary accommodation. We also reviewed
  documents that evidenced long-term demand modelling and planning and
  agreements that underpin key partnerships.
- literature review: we reviewed key relevant policy and research documents.
- local interviews: we met with relevant senior officers and councillors from five councils.
- national interviews: we met the Welsh Government, research organisations and homelessness charities.
- surveys: we carried out surveys of the section 151 officers and heads of housing in all 22 councils. We received responses from all councils for both surveys.



Audit Wales

1 Capital Quarter

Tyndall Street

Cardiff CF10 4BZ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English.

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg.